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U. S. DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FILED 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS 

TEXARKANA DIVISION FEB 1 8 1998 

CHRIS R. JOHNSON, CLE.s(K 
BY: 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
DEPUTY CLERK 

vs. Cr. No. 4:97cr40013-001 

STEVEN W. WOOLDRIDGE 

GOVERNMENT'S MOTION TO AMEND 
NOTICE OF INTENT TO SEEK THE DEATH PENALTY 

Comes now the United States of America, by and through P.K. 

Holmes, III, United States Attorney for the Western District of 

Arkansas, and pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 

3593(a) by and through its undersigned counsel, moves this 

honorable court to allow the government to amend its notice of 

intent to seek the death penalty filed January 6, 1998 to include 

an additional statutory aggravating factor enumerated under Title 

18, United States Code, Sectior.. 3592 (c) . In support of this 

motion, the government would state to the court the follOWing: 

1. On January 6, 1998, the government filed a Notice of 

Intent to Seek the Death Penalty setting forth statutory 

proportionality factors pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3591(a) (2) (A-D) and 

aggravating factors pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3592 (e). In addition, 

the government set forth in this notice various non-statutory 

aggravating factors pursuant to 18 U. S . C. § 3593 (a) (2) . 

2. As to the statutory facto~ set forth in the government's 

notice pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3592(c) I the government cited the 

factor of heinous, cruel, and depraved manner of committing offense 



as set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3592(c) (6) and substantial planning and 

premeditation as set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3592(c) (9). 

3. By this motion, the government seeks to add under 

18 U.S.C. § 3592{c) the aggravating factor of pecuniary gain. The 

defendant committed the offense in the expectation of the receipt 

of something of pecuniary value, see Section 3592 (c) (8) . The 

government is allowed to amend its notice to seek the death penalty 

in aggravating factors where good cause can be shown, see 

18 U.S.C. § 3593(0.). The recer.t analysis by the government 

prosecutor of existing evidence and newly received evidence, 

indicates that the defendant is alleging that one of his motives 

for kidnaping the victim Hollie Miller was to force her to utilize 

her ATM card to rob her account of available funds. The government 

feels that such a motive and conduct by the defendant supports the 

aggravating factor of pecuniary gain as set forth in Section 

3593(c}(8). 

4. The government moving to amend its notice of aggravating 

factors is determined to be good cause where it is shown that the 

amendment is sought not in bad faith and sufficient time remains to 

allow the defendant to adjust his strategy prior to trial or 

sentencing. In United States v. Pretlow, 770 F.Supp. 239 (D.N.J. 

1991) I the trial court found that even though the evidence was 

originally available to the government to identify the aggravating 

factor now sought to be added, the analYSis of the investigation by 

the prosecutor where sufficient time remains for the defendant to 

respond to an amended notice is sufficient to allow such a notice 
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to be amended with the inclusion of an additional aggravating 

factor. See Pretlow at 242. 

WHEREFORE I the United States would move that the court to 

allow the government to amend its notice of intent to seek the 

death penalty filed ~n January 6 I 1998 to add the statutory 

aggravating factor enumerated in Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 3S92(c) (8) (pecuniary gain) to the aggravating factors set 

forth in Section B of the government's previously filed notice. 

Respactfully submitted, 

P.K. Holmes, III 
United States Attorney 

By: ~~%. 
David N. Blackorby 
Assistant U.S. Atto 
Ark. Bar No. 92155 
P.O. Box l524 
Fort Smith, AR 72902-1524 
(501) 783-5125 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing. 
pleading has been mailed this /~ day of February, 1998 to: 

Mr. Barry Bryant 
Attorney at Law 
723 Main Street 
Texarkana, Texas 75501 

Craig Henry 
Attorney at Law 
P.O. Box 3226 
Texarkana, Texas 75504-3226 
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id N. Blackorby 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 



IN 

U S DISTRiCT COURf 
STERN-DISTR\CT OF ARKANSAS 

TEE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT WE F I L 1: f) 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS 
TEXARKANA Dlv.:SION JAN 0 6 1998 

CHRIS R. JOHNSON, Clerk 

UNITSD STATES OF' AMERlc..n. by: 
Oeplrty CIGrk 

V8. c~. No. 4:97cr40013-001 

STEVEN W. WOOLDRIDGE 

NOTICE OF INTENT TO 
fiEiEK THE DEAT:-l: PEN~k'TY 

Comes now the United States of America, by a:1d through P.K. 

Holmes, III, United States Attorney for the ~estern District 0= 
Arkansas, and pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3593{a) I by and through i:s 

undersigned cou.~sel, notifies the coutt and the defendant Steven W. 

wooldridge chat the government believes the circumst~~ces of the 

offense charge in the indictme~t are such that, in the event of 

conviction, a sentence of death is justified under Chapcer 228 (§§ 

3591 through 3598) of Ticle 18 of the United S~ates Code, and that 

the government will seek the sentence of death for the offense of 

ki~~aping Hollie CalhoLL~ Miller and willfully transporcing her in 

interstat~ commerce from Texarkana, Arkansas to rural Cass COlL~ty, 

Texas subsequently causing the death of Hollie Calhou-7J. Miller I in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1201. 

The government proposes to prove the follo'lling factors as 

justifying a sentence of death. 

A. .§..tatutory: RroportioAAlity Factors Enumerated under 18 

u.s.c. § 359:1(a){2) (A)-(D). 

1. Intentional Killing. The defendant intentionally 

killed Hollie Calhoun Miller. § 3591 (a) (2) (A) . 

--~~-~~-----



3. Stat~tory Agcrravatincr Factors Enumerated UnQer lS U.S.r.. 

§ 3592(c) 

Heinous, C=uel, or Depraved Manner of Commit.ti~g 

Offense. 7he defenc.fu"lt c::mll't.itt:ec. t~e of::e:cse in a.""1 espec~al:y 

"j,eino<.:.s, cruel, and ce9:!:'aved if.a..J.."l.er in that i;: lc_vol vee. 

serious p~ysica.l and psy::l101cgical abuse of Hollie Ca2.hoLE 

2. 

§ 3592 (e) (6) 

Substantial Planning and Premeditation. 

defendant committed the offense a=ter subs~antial pla~~Eg and 

premeditaticn to cause the e.eat~ of Eollie Calhoun Miller 2nd 

'::0 commit an act of terrorism to cause the death of Hol2.ie 

Ca2.houn Miller. § 3592 (e) (9) . 

C. Other, Non-Statutory, Aggrnvating Factors Id9ntified 

Under 18 U. S . C . § 3593 (a) (2} • 

1. Future Dangerousness of the Defendant. ~he 

defendant is likely to commit criminal acts of violence In the 

future wrLich would be a continuing and serious tr..reat to 

society. 

{1994}. 

Simmons v. South Carol-i na , 114 S.Ct. 2187, 2193 

a. Other A.cte of Violence. The defendant has 

committed, attempted to commit, and/or threatened to commit 

other acts of violence, in addition to the capital offenses 

committed in this case and the statutory factors alleged in 

~his Notice, including but not limited to one or more of the 

following: 
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• Attempted rape and assault on a fe~a:e in an 

apa~tment in Roustcn, Texas 

• In the sp~i~g ~f 1997, 

female potential victims 

Texas/Arkansas area. 

i:1 1992. 

the stalking of cthe~ 

in the Texarkana, 

• In the spring of 1997, the mulciple burglaries 

in the Texark~"a, Texas/Arkansas a=ea. 

b. Successfully Eluding Capture. The defendar~~ 

successfully eluded cap::ure by local authorities and the 

Federal Bureau of Investigation until his ar=est orr April 23, 

1997. 

c. Lack of Remorse. The 

demonstrated a lack of remorse for the 

committed, ~n this case, by statements 

defendant has 

capital offense 

and/or actions, 

including but not limited to one or more of the follo\~ing: 

i. The defendant in continuing to d~cei ve 

Hollie Calhoun Miller that he would eventually release 

her, allowed her to dress in clothes that he purchased 

and put back on her jewelry which he irrunediately removed 

after he shot her. 

ii. The defendant admitted that once he shot 

her he stated he felt good about it. 

iii. The. defendant since his arrest has 

referred to Hollie Calhoun 'Miller and other potential 

victims in vulgar and insulting sexual terms. 
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iv. T~e ,::efendant. , ir:ca::.-ceratec., 

:":lc':"cati:lg that: he 'lJ01.:ld contir~ue to peT?etuate sue:: 

cri8es if a~d when ~eleased. 

c. Obstruction 0: Justice. ':'ne vict.i~, Ecl::"ie 

Cal1:o·l';. Y!:"ller I was killec tc preven.t t.he de£enda...T1t f:!:ot\\ bei:lg 

identified as the pe~et~ator of he::: kiQ"aping. 

2. Victim Impact EvidenC!e. The victim' s pe~sc:1a2. 

cr.!.drac:.~ristics as an i:1C.i vi:h.:.al human beir:g andl or t~e impact 

of the death upon the vicLim's family. 

1:1 S.Ct. 2597, 2608-09 (1991). 

a. Characteristics. The vic1:im's 

charact:eristics as ~'"l individual human being inc~uded DL:t 

are not l':"mited to one or more of the following: 

i. Recently married. 

ii. College student. 

iii. Strongly inv::llved with her husband in 

developing a home and family. 

b. ~act of Death. The family of the victim has 

su:fered injury and loss, as a result of the victim's 

death, incl1.1ding but not limited to one or more of the 

following; 

i. Disruption of order. 

ii. RBality of violence. 

iii. Wanting to be" isolated. 

iv. A stup~ing, troubling eXDBrience. 

v. Indescribable feeling of loss. 



vi. Psyc~olQg~cal trau~a re~iring cnsci~g 

treatr-le:1.t.. 

vi. Indescribable horror and revulsi·::.:n 0:: 

what was dcne to the victim p~ic~ to her deach. 
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Respect fully SlJ.bmi tted, 

P.K. 301rnes, III 
United states_Attor=:ey U 

----?'t7 I ~ /2 
By: ~~' /1' ttL 

David N. Blackorby 
Assistant u.s. Atto~ey 
Ark. Bar No. 92155 
?o. Box 1524 
?ort Smith, AR 72902-1524 
(SOl) 783-5125 

~$Jfo-
Brent Haltom 
Special Asst. u.s. Atcorney 



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I he~eby certify tha~ a true and correct C0py of the foregoi 
pleading has been mailed this ~ day of Ja~~a~/, 1993 to: 

Mr. Barry B~ant 
J>.ttorney at Law 
P.O. Box 3226 
Texarkana, TX 75504-3226 

rt'~. Craig Her:ry 
Attorney at Law 
P.O. Box 3226 
Texarkana, Texas 75504-3226 
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Brent Halt.om 
Special Asst. U.S. Attorney 


